
Agenda - Constitutional and Legislative Affairs 
Committee
Meeting Venue:
Committee Room 2 - Senedd
Meeting date: Monday, 14 January 
2013
Meeting time: 14.30

For further information contact:
Gareth Williams
Committee Clerk
0300 200 6565 
SeneddCLA@Assembly.Wales

1 Introduction, apologies, substitutions and declarations of interest
 

2 Instruments that raise no reporting issues under Standing Order 
21.2 or 21.3

Negative Resolution Instruments
CLA199 - The Common Agricultural Policy Single Payment and Support Schemes 
(Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 

Negative Procedure. Date made 13 December 2012. Date laid 13 December 
2012. Coming into force date 3 January 2013

 
CLA203 - The Plant Health (Wales) (Amendment) Order 2012 

Negative Procedure. Date made 19 December 2012. Date laid 20 December 
2012. Coming into force date 11 January 2013

 
Affirmative Resolution Instruments
CLA202 - The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Conventions (Representations and 
Appeals) Removed Vehicles (Wales) Regulations 2013 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



Affirmative Procedure. Coming into force in accordance with regulation 1(1)
 
CLA204 - The Fishing Boats (Satellite - Tracking Devices and Electronic 
Transmission of Fishing Activities Data) (Wales) Scheme 2012 

Affirmative Procedure. Date made 21 December 2012. Date laid 21 
December 2012. Coming into force date 31 December 2012

 

3 Instruments that raise issues to be reported to the Assembly 
under Standing Order 21.2 or 21.3

 
Negative Resolution Instruments
CLA200 - The Welsh Language Schemes (Public Bodies) Order 2012 

(Pages 1 - 12)
Negative Procedure. Date made 13 December 2012. Date laid 14 December 
2012. Coming into force date 4 January 2013

 

4 Evidence in relation to the Regulated Mobile Homes Sites (Wales) 
Bill

 
Peter Black AM, Member in Charge;
Gwyn Griffiths, Legal Services

Huw Lewis AM, Minister for Housing Regeneration and Heritage;
Huw McLean, Regeneration and Renewal Officer, Welsh Government;
Helen Kellaway, Legal Services, Welsh Government.

http://www.assemblywales.org/bus-home/bus-
legislation/proposed_members_bills/regulated_mobile_home_sites_wales_bill.htm

http://www.assemblywales.org/bus-home/bus-legislation/proposed_members_bills/regulated_mobile_home_sites_wales_bill.htm
http://www.assemblywales.org/bus-home/bus-legislation/proposed_members_bills/regulated_mobile_home_sites_wales_bill.htm


http://www.assembly.wales/Research%20Documents/Regulated%20Mobile%20Ho
me%20Sites%20(Wales)%20Bill%20-%20Bill%20Summary-14112012-240482/12-
050-English.pdf 

5 Paper to Note
 

CLA(4)-01-13 – Report of the meeting on 7 January 2013

6 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 
public from the meeting for the following business:

 
A Committee may resolve to exclude the public from a meeting or any part of a 
meeting where:
(ix) any matter relating to the internal business of the committee, or of the 
Assembly is to be discusses.

7 Forward Work Programme
(Pages 13 - 16) 

Attached Documents: 
CLA(4)-02-13-Paper 4

Transcript 

View the meeting transcript. 

http://www.assembly.wales/Research%20Documents/Regulated%20Mobile%20Home%20Sites%20(Wales)%20Bill%20-%20Bill%20Summary-14112012-240482/12-050-English.pdf
http://www.assembly.wales/Research%20Documents/Regulated%20Mobile%20Home%20Sites%20(Wales)%20Bill%20-%20Bill%20Summary-14112012-240482/12-050-English.pdf
http://www.assembly.wales/Research%20Documents/Regulated%20Mobile%20Home%20Sites%20(Wales)%20Bill%20-%20Bill%20Summary-14112012-240482/12-050-English.pdf
mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=1242


Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee

CLA(4)-02-13 Paper 1

Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee Draft Report

Title:  The Welsh Language Schemes (Public Bodies) Order 2012

Procedure: Negative

This Order specifies the Natural Resources Body for Wales for the 
purposes of Part II of the Welsh Language Act 1993 (‘the Act’), which is 
the Part that deals with language schemes.

Technical Scrutiny

No points are identified for reporting under Standing Order 21.2 in 
respect of this instrument.

Merits Scrutiny

The following point is identified for reporting under Standing Order 
21.3 in respect of this instrument.

This is the first order of this type since the passing of the Welsh 
Language (Wales) Measure 2011 (‘the Measure’).  The purpose of that 
Measure is to replace the system of Welsh Language schemes 
established under the Act and enforced by the Welsh Language Board 
with language standards enforced by the Welsh Language 
Commissioner.  The three bodies to be united in the Natural Resources 
Body for Wales have their own language schemes, and the purpose of 
this order is to ensure that there will be no gap in the legal status of 
the services provided in Welsh following that union.

What is of interest is what the Order reveals about the timetable for 
implementation of the Measure.  The following appears in the 
Regulatory Impact Assessment laid with the Order – 

“In addition, it is likely to be some time before the Welsh 
Language Commissioner will be in a position to issue the NRBW 
with a compliance notice under section 45 of the Welsh Language 
(Wales) Measure 2011, requiring it to comply with standards. 
Before that notice can be issued the Welsh Ministers would have 
to make an order to amend Schedule 6 of the Measure to include 
NRBW as a body potentially liable to comply with standards.  
Regulations will need to be made to specify standards and to 
authorise the Welsh Language Commissioner to give NRBW a 
compliance notice requiring it to comply with the specified 

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 3.1



standards.  In the meantime, were the NRBW not to have an 
enforceable Welsh Language Scheme in place, this would be likely 
to leave a long period in the transition from the three existing 
bodies (the Countryside Council for Wales, the Forestry 
Commission and the Environment Agency), with their enforceable 
Schemes, to the imposition of standards on the NRBW.”  (legal 
advisers’ emphasis)

Thus, although the Welsh Language Board has now been replaced by 
the Welsh Language Commissioner in accordance with the Measure, it 
appears that language schemes in accordance with the Act will 
continue in force for some time to come.

[Standing Order 21.3(ii) - that it is of political or legal importance or 
gives rise to issues of public policy likely to be of interest to the 
Assembly;]

Legal Advisers
Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee

December 2012

The Government has responded as follows:

The Welsh Language Schemes (Public Bodies) Order 2012

Response to Merits Scrutiny Reporting Point

The Government notes the point raised in the report. We have dealt with this 
issue in the Regulatory Impact Assessment and we have nothing further to 
add.”

Pack Page 2



W E L S H  S T A T U T O R Y  
I N S T R U M E N T S

2012 No. 3095 (W. 312)

WELSH LANGUAGE

The Welsh Language Schemes 
(Public Bodies) Order 2012

EXPLANATORY NOTE

(This note is not part of the Order)

Under Part II of the Welsh Language Act 1993 (“the 
Act”) the Welsh Language Board may give notice in 
writing to any public body to produce a Welsh 
Language Scheme. The Welsh Language Board has 
now been abolished and the function of giving notice 
under Part II of the Act has been transferred to the 
Welsh Language Commissioner by virtue of the Welsh 
Language (Wales) Measure 2011.  Section 6 of the Act 
lists various public bodies for the purposes of Part II of 
the Act and provides that the Secretary of State (now 
the Welsh Ministers) may specify further public bodies 
for those purposes.

This Order specifies the Natural Resources Body for 
Wales for the purposes of Part II of the Act.

Six previous Orders have been made under section 6 
of the Act:

The Welsh Language Schemes (Public Bodies) 
Order 1996 (S.I. 1996/1898);

The Welsh Language Schemes (Public Bodies) 
Order 1999 (S.I. 1999/1100);

The Welsh Language Schemes (Public Bodies) 
Order 2001 (S.I. 2001/2550(W.215));

The Welsh Language Schemes (Public Bodies) 
Order 2002 (S.I. 2002/1441(W.145));

The Welsh Language Schemes (Public Bodies) 
Order 2004 (S.I. 2004/71(W.7)); and

The Welsh Language Schemes (Public Bodies) 
Order 2008 (S.I. 2008/1890(W.179)).

The Welsh Ministers’ Code of Practice on the 
carrying out of Regulatory Impact Assessments was 
considered in relation to this Order.  As a result, a 

Pack Page 3



2

regulatory impact assessment has been prepared as to 
the likely costs and benefits of complying with this 
Order.  A copy can be obtained from the Welsh 
Government, Cathays Park, Cardiff, CF10 3NQ. 

Pack Page 4



3

W E L S H  S T A T U T O R Y  
I N S T R U M E N T S

2012 No. 3095 (W. 312)

WELSH LANGUAGE

The Welsh Language Schemes 
(Public Bodies) Order 2012

Made 13 December 2012

Laid before the National Assembly for Wales
14 December 2012

Coming into force 4 January 2013

Whereas it appears to the Welsh Ministers that the 
person referred to in this Order is a person exercising 
functions of a public nature;

Now, therefore, the Welsh Ministers, in exercise of the 
powers conferred on the Secretary of State by section 
6(1)(o) of the Welsh Language Act 1993(1) and now 
vested in them(2) hereby make the following Order:

Title and commencement

1. The title of this Order is the Welsh Language 
Schemes (Public Bodies) Order 2012 and it comes into 
force on 4 January 2013.

Specification of Public Body

2. The Natural Resources Body for Wales(3) is 
specified for the purposes of Part II of the Welsh 
Language Act 1993.

(1) 1993 (c.38).
(2) The functions of the Secretary of State were transferred, so 

far as exercisable in relation to Wales, to the National 
Assembly for Wales by the National Assembly for Wales 
(Transfer of Functions) Order 1999 (S.I. 1999/672), see the 
reference to the Welsh Language Act 1993 in Schedule 1. By 
virtue of section 162 of, and paragraph 30 of Schedule 11 to, 
the Government of Wales Act 2006 (c.32) those functions 
transferred to the Welsh Ministers. 

(3) The Natural Resources Body for Wales was established by 
the Natural Resources Body for Wales (Establishment) 
Order 2012 (S.I. 2012/1903(W.230)).

Pack Page 5



4

Leighton Andrews

Minister for Education and Skills, one of the Welsh 
Ministers

13 December 2012

Pack Page 6



Explanatory Memorandum to the Welsh Language Schemes (Public Bodies) 
Order 2012  

This Explanatory Memorandum has been prepared by the Department for Education 
and is laid before the National Assembly for Wales in conjunction with the above 
subordinate legislation and in accordance with: 

Standing Order 27.1 

Minister’s Declaration

In my view, this Explanatory Memorandum gives a fair and reasonable view of the 
expected impact of the Welsh Language Schemes (Public Bodies) Order 2012. I am 
satisfied that the benefits outweigh any costs.

Leighton Andrews AM
Minister for Education and Skills
13 December 2012

Pack Page 7



1. Description
1.1 The purpose of the Order is to specify the Natural Resources Body for Wales 
(NRBW) as a ‘public body’ for the purposes of Part II of the Welsh Language Act 
1993 (‘the 1993 Act’). Under part II of the 1993 Act, the Welsh Language Board may 
give notice in writing to any organisation which is a ‘public body’ to produce a Welsh 
Language Scheme.  The Welsh Language Board has now been abolished and the 
function of giving notice under Part II of the 1993 Act has been transferred to the 
Welsh Language Commissioner by virtue of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 
2011.

2. Matters of special interest to the Constitutional and Legislative Affairs 
Committee

None

3. Legislative background

 3.1 This Order is being made under section 6(1)(o) of the 1993 Act.  Section 6(1)(o) 
provides that any person (whether or not a body corporate or unincorporate) who 
appears to the Secretary of State to be exercising functions of a public nature and 
who is specified by order made by the Secretary of State for the purposes of Part II of 
the 1993 Act is a ‘public body’.  

3.2 The power of the Secretary of State, so far as exercisable in relation to Wales, 
was transferred to the National Assembly for Wales by virtue of the National 
Assembly of Wales (Transfer of Functions) Order 1999 (SI 1999/672).  Those 
functions were transferred to the Welsh Ministers by section 162 of, and paragraph 
30, of Schedule 11 to the Government of Wales Act 2006. 

3.3 The NRBW was established by the Natural Resources Body for Wales 
(Establishment) Order 2012 (SI 2012/1903(W.230)).

3.4 The Order is subject to annulment (the negative procedure) by virtue of section 
6(2) of the 1993 Act. 

4. Purpose & intended effect of the legislation

4.1 The purpose of the Order is to specify the NRBW as a ‘public body’ for the 
purposes of Part II of the Welsh Language Act 1993. Section 6 of the Act lists various 
public bodies for the purposes of part II of the Act and provides that the Secretary of 
State may specify further public bodies for those purposes. This power was 
transferred to the National Assembly by the National Assembly for Wales (Transfer of 
Functions) Order 1999.

4.2 Under section 7 of the Welsh Language Act 1993, the Welsh Language 
Commissioner may give notice in writing to any organisation which is a ‘public body’ 
to produce a Welsh Language Scheme. The purpose of Schemes is to give effect to 
the principle established in the Act that in the conduct of public business and the 
administration of justice in Wales, the Welsh and English languages should be 
treated on a basis of equality. The purpose and effect of this Order will be to enable 

Pack Page 8



the Commissioner to give notice to the NRBW to prepare a Welsh Language 
Scheme.

4.3 It was the intention, when the Act was passed, that the coverage of the public 
sector would be comprehensive. Section 6 of the 1993 Act was broadly drafted in 
order to enable the Secretary of State to name a broad spectrum of bodies carrying 
out functions of a public nature. Six previous Orders naming additional bodies have 
previously been made.

4.4 If this Order were not made then the Welsh Language Commissioner would not 
be able to serve a notice on the NRBW requiring it to produce a Welsh Language 
Scheme.

4.5 The Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) at annex 1 discusses the costs 
associated with the preparation, by NRBW, of a statutory scheme. 

5. Consultation 

5.1 The Welsh Ministers have consulted with the Chief Executive of NRBW and the 
Living Wales Programme Board, which is responsible for delivering the new single 
environment body, NRBW on 1 April 2013. The outcome of that consultation is 
included in the RIA at annex 1. 

Pack Page 9



Annex 1

Regulatory Impact Assessment

Options

With regard to the NRBW, the Welsh Ministers considered the following options:

a) Do nothing

The Welsh Ministers considered the appropriateness of making an Order to enable 
the preparation, by NRBW, of a Welsh Language Scheme at a time when the policy 
(introduced by the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011) is to move from 
schemes to Welsh language standards. However, the NRBW will constitute a new 
and high profile organisation, with considerable public interest in its work - and with a 
wide range of stakeholders. It will also be formed by the merger of three 
organisations with approved Welsh Language Schemes, elements of which are 
regarded by many as being at the forefront of good practice. 

In addition, it is likely to be some time before the Welsh Language Commissioner will 
be in a position to issue the NRBW with a compliance notice under section 45 of the 
Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011, requiring it to comply with standards. 
Before that notice can be issued the Welsh Ministers would have to make an order to 
amend Schedule 6 of the Measure to include NRBW as a body potentially liable to 
comply with standards.  Regulations will need to be made to specify standards and to 
authorise the Welsh Language Commissioner to give NRBW a compliance notice 
requiring it to comply with the specified standards.  In the meantime, were the NRBW 
not to have an enforceable Welsh Language Scheme in place, this would be likely to 
leave a long period in the transition from the three existing bodies (the Countryside 
Council for Wales, the Forestry Commission and the Environment Agency), with their 
enforceable Schemes, to the imposition of standards on the NRBW.  

The NBRW could prepare a voluntary Scheme in the meantime. However, were that 
option to be followed, the Welsh Language Commissioner would not be able to deal 
with non-compliance with the Scheme.  This could lead to a criticism of the Welsh 
Ministers for not having specified the body under Section 6 of the Welsh Language 
Act 1993.

b) Designate NRBW under Section 6(1)(o) of the Welsh Language Act 1993

Including NRBW in an Order will result in it having to prepare a statutory Welsh 
Language Scheme under the Welsh Language Act, following notification by the 
Welsh Language Commissioner. The Scheme would have to be prepared in 
accordance with Guidelines and Statutory Advice issued by the Welsh Language 
Board and would specify the measures NRBW proposes to take for the purposes of 
giving effect to the principle that, in the conduct of public business and the 
administration of justice in Wales, the Welsh and English languages should be 
treated on a basis of equality. 

The Living Wales Programme Board, which is responsible for delivering the new 
single environment body, NRBW, on 1 April 2013, took an early decision to proceed 
with developing a formal Welsh Language Scheme for NRBW that could be approved 
by the Welsh Language Commissioner and come into effect on 1 April 2013.  The 
preparation of a statutory Scheme would also help facilitate a unified ambition in 

Pack Page 10



relation to the Welsh language within NRBW. In addition, preparation of a statutory 
Scheme would enable the Welsh Language Commissioner to deal with any instances 
of non-compliance with the Scheme.

Costs & benefits

a) Benefits

The Order will allow a statutory Welsh Language Scheme to be developed and 
implemented by the NRBW. 

The Scheme will improve accessibility to public services to people wishing to 
communicate with the NRBW through the medium of Welsh. The detailed benefits to 
service users in Wales will depend on the terms of the NRBW’s Scheme and cannot, 
therefore, be foreseen precisely at this stage. Nevertheless, the Scheme would need 
to conform to guidelines approved by Parliament in July 1995, and advice and 
guidance issued by the Welsh Language Board.

The Order will enable the application of the principle that the Welsh and English 
languages should be treated on a basis of equality to be further extended. The Order 
is consistent with the Welsh Government’s policy of supporting the use of Welsh. It 
will also contribute to one of the aims of the Welsh Governments Welsh language 
Strategy: A living language: a language for living [[Welsh Government, March 2012] 
(Strategic area 5: Welsh language services). 

Not making an Order, and relying on NRBW to prepare a voluntary Welsh Language 
Scheme could result in the same benefits. However, the Welsh Language 
Commissioner would be unable to deal with any instances of poor performance by 
the NRBW with regard to the provision of Welsh language services.

b) Costs

Just as it is not possible to foresee precisely the detailed benefits which will accrue to 
service users in Wales as a result of the Welsh Language Scheme which this Order 
will make possible, it is likewise not realistically possible to forecast accurately the 
costs involved. However, no costs are likely to be incurred by the National Assembly 
for Wales or the Welsh Government.

The Welsh Language Act 1993 requires that Schemes be prepared with regard to 
what is “reasonably practicable and appropriate in the circumstances” for the 
organisation concerned. 

The costs of implementing any new Welsh Language Scheme will also depend on 
the current level of service provision in Welsh, and that planned for the future. 
Providing a bilingual service is accepted as good practice and is becoming much 
more common in Wales. Some organisations have developed voluntary Welsh 
language Schemes or policies - or provide some bilingual services voluntarily - since 
they see them as both good practice and good public relations. Where an 
organisation has already moved in that direction, the costs of implementation will be 
lower than that of organisation which has taken few steps towards bilingual provision.

The 1993 Act was passed on the basis that any additional costs which might be 
incurred would be met from the body’s mainstream budget; this was stated in a 
Financial Memorandum submitted to Parliament at the time, with the Bill. To take an 

Pack Page 11



alternative view would be to imply that public funding was intended to secure only an 
English language service.

The costs involved will be met by the NBRW. There will be no costs, otherwise, to 
local government, the third sector, or to the business sector.

Each of the public bodies which will be merged to form the NBRW (namely, the 
Countryside Council for Wales, the Forestry Commission and the Environment 
Agency) already operate in accordance with Welsh Language Schemes approved by 
the Welsh Language Board. As such, the recurring costs for the NRBW of 
implementing a Scheme will be lower then would be the case were the three bodies 
concerned not currently implementing Schemes. The Living Wales Programme 
Board has been given the opportunity to provide an estimate of the costs which they 
might envisage in implementing their Scheme. 

The Chief Executive of the NRBW has confirmed that the NRWB Board is eager to 
publish a draft Scheme as soon as possible, with a view to implementing a Welsh 
Language Scheme from 1 April 2013. he has also confirmed that the NRBW notes 
the need to mainstream the costs of implementing a Welsh Language Scheme and 
that, since the NRBW is being made up of organisations that currently have Welsh 
Language Schemes, a budget for implementing such a Scheme has already been 
earmarked, in order that a Scheme can be prepared and implemented.  

Not making an order, and relying on NRBW to prepare a voluntary Welsh Language 
Scheme could result in the same costs for the organisation.

Consultation

The Welsh Government has written formally to the Chief Executive of NRBW and the 
Living Wales Programme Board consulting it about the proposed changes.  
Discussions have also been held with the Living Wales Programme Board, and 
between that Board and the Welsh Language Commissioner, in order to clarify with it 
what will be expected of the NRBW. Following those discussions, no objection has 
been raised to having to produce and implement a Welsh Language Scheme.  As 
indicated above, NRBW is eager to implement its Welsh Language Scheme from 1 
April 2013 and is therefore content to be named in the Order.

Post implementation review

Monitoring implementation of NRBW’s Welsh Language Scheme will be a matter for 
the Welsh Language Commissioner. 

Pack Page 12



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 13

Agenda Item 7By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	3.1 CLA200 - The Welsh Language Schemes (Public Bodies) Order 2012
	CLA(4)-02-13 Paper 2-Order
	CLA(4)-02-13 Paper 3- Explanatory Memorandum

	7 Forward Work Programme

